71531-3

NO. 71531-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

.

AUSTIN STEIN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Bruce E. Heller, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID B. KOCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Appellant was denied a fair trial when the court permitted law enforcement officers to express improper opinions on his guilt.

 The trial court erred, and denied appellant his right to present a defense, when it excluded relevant evidence concerning the alleged victim.

3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure jurors were fully and properly instructed on self-defense.

4. Cumulative error denied appellant a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Witnesses must never offer an opinion, even by inference, as to a defendant's guilt. Appellant claimed that he was the victim and had responded in lawful self-defense. Two members of law enforcement were permitted to testify that they had significant experience dealing with actual victims and appellant was not acting like one during and following his arrest. Did this deny appellant his constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial?

2. Appellant is black; the alleged victim was white. At trial, the defense sought to prove that the alleged victim attacked appellant and that appellant merely fought back in self-defense. To

-1-

help establish these events, the defense sought to use evidence that the alleged victim – who used a racial epithet against appellant – also had two swastika tattoos, which were relevant to establishing his intent, his racial motive to attack appellant, and that he was the first aggressor. Did the trial court's exclusion of this evidence deny appellant his constitutional right to present a defense?

3. During closing argument, defense counsel argued that appellant was legally justified in using deadly force to repel the attack against him. Counsel failed, however, to ensure jurors received an instruction that supported this argument, thereby making it appear – consistent with the State's theory – that appellant had used excessive force. Did counsel's error deny appellant his constitutional rights to effective representation and a fair trial?

4. Assuming none of these errors, alone, warrant a new trial, does their combined effect warrant that result?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged Austin Stein with Murder in the Second Degree in connection with the November 4, 2012 death of Bill Smith. CP 1-6. Stein claimed self-defense. CP 136-139. A jury rejected that defense, however, and found him

-2-

guilty. CP 143. The Honorable Bruce Heller imposed a standard range sentence of 196 months, and Stein timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 173, 187-194.

2. Substantive Facts

Thomas Cummings lives in a home, in Covington, with his fiancée, Jackie Mead. 10RP¹ 53-54; exhibit 3A. Two to three months before Smith's death, Cummings allowed Smith – whom he had known for a couple of years – to park his trailer in Cummings' back yard and live there while Smith "was getting his act together." 10RP 58-59; exhibit 3E. Smith was an alcoholic. 10RP 21.

Another Covington resident, Anthony Hedin, also knew Smith and spent time with him in the trailer watching movies and drinking. 10RP 15-17. Hedin knew Austin Stein through a temporary work agency both men used and he introduced Stein to Smith. 10RP 20; 14RP 118-119. Thereafter, Smith, Hedin, and Stein occasionally socialized together at Smith's trailer. 10RP 20-21; 14RP 119-124.

On the late afternoon or early evening of November 3, 2012,

-3-

¹ This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP - 10/21/13; 2RP - 10/30/13; 3RP - 10/31/13; 4RP - 11/4/13; 5RP - 11/4/13 (voir dire); 6RP - 11/5/13; 7RP - 11/6/13; 8RP - 11/6/13 (voir dire); 9RP - 11/7/13; 10RP - 11/10/13; 11RP - 11/13/13; 12RP - 11/14/13; 13RP - 11/18/13; 14RP - 11/19/13; 15RP - 11/20/13; 16RP - 11/21/13; 17RP - 2/7/14.

Hedin and Stein stopped by Smith's trailer. 10RP 21; 14RP 122. Smith was not alone. Katarina Krogness, whom Smith considered his girlfriend, also was present. 10RP 21; 13RP 23-24; 14RP 122-123. During the visit, Smith drank more than the others and was drunk. 10RP 21-22; 13RP 29; 14RP 123-124.

-

At some point, Stein told Krogness she was cute, which Smith overheard. 13RP 27, 30, 47; 14RP 126. Although Stein merely intended to pay Krogness a compliment, Smith was irate and accused Stein of "trying to get at" his girl. 10RP 22-23, 39; 13RP 27, 31; 14RP 126. Smith began screaming at Stein, repeatedly called him a nigger, and told him to "get the fuck out of here." 10RP 23, 41-42; 13RP 31; 14RP 126-128. Irrational behavior was not uncommon for Smith. When he was drunk, he would get angry and he would often break things. 13RP 25.

Efforts by everyone to calm Smith were not successful. 14RP 127-128. As Hedin and Stein stepped out of the trailer, Smith came after them with a large hammer in his hand, told the men to "get the fuck off my property," and held the hammer over his head as if he might strike them. 10RP 23-24, 40-41; 13RP 32-33; 14RP 128-129. Both men left the area and spent the night at Hedin's home, where they attributed the incident to Smith's level of intoxication and tried to

-4-

put it out of their minds. Stein was not angry. 10RP 25-27, 42-43; 14RP 130-132.

The next morning, November 4, Krogness told Smith that he had acted crazy the night before and that he should call and apologize to Hedin and Stein. 13RP 35-36. Smith then called Hedin, said he had been drunk, and apologized for his behavior. 10RP 27-28, 43, 47; 13RP 37. Smith also invited the men over for another drink. 10RP 28. Hedin told Stein about the call. 10RP 47; 14RP 133.

Stein left Hedin's home that afternoon intending to catch the bus to visit his father in West Seattle. 14RP 133-134. Because he had time before the next bus, however, he walked to Smith's trailer to tell him there were no hard feelings. 14RP 134. Smith, who had been drinking again, invited Stein inside. 14RP 135. The two were getting along fine and discussed the Seahawks and their common interest in painting and construction work. 14RP 137. Smith was drinking what appeared to be whiskey, and Stein had beer. 14RP 138.

At some point that afternoon, Krogness called Smith and said she no longer wished to talk to him because of his behavior the night before. 13RP 38, 45. Smith's behavior was deteriorating and his

-5-

drinking had increased. 13RP 38. The phone call ended with Krogness hanging up on Smith. 13RP 38.

According to Stein, while at the trailer, Smith was involved with more than one phone call and stepped outside to talk on the phone. 14RP 139-140, 185-187. After one such call, Smith reentered the trailer and mumbled something about someone not believing him. 14RP 141. When Stein asked Smith if he was alright, Smith responded, "you don't fuckin' talk to me like that" and approached in an aggressive fashion. 14RP 142-143. As Stein stood up, Smith hit him in the head, causing him to fall. 14RP 143.

According to Stein, Smith attempted to hit him some more while Stein tried to push him away. 14RP 143. Smith then shouted, "I am going to blow your fucking head off, nigger," and started heading for the front of the trailer. 14RP 144. Believing he was about to be shot, Stein grabbed Smith from behind and pulled him back toward the middle of the trailer and onto the floor. 14RP 144-147. Stein was scared, angry, and confused about what was happening. 14RP 149. The two fought, with both men yelling and cursing, temporarily getting to their feet, and then going to the floor again. Both men were throwing punches, and Stein continued to strike Smith until he noticed blood. 14RP 147-150.

-6-

Everything was foggy thereafter. 14RP 150. Stein was not sure whether Smith was still alive, although he had not intended to kill him. 14RP 151. He saw Smith's cell phone on the counter and grabbed it to call for help, but he never did. 14RP 151-152. Instead, he exited the trailer and knocked on a rear window on Cummings's house. 14RP 152.

:

Cummings heard the banging and brought Stein inside. 10RP 61-62. Stein was mumbling, panicky, talking in circles, and not making sense, although Cummings discerned that he was saying something about alcohol and a fight. 10RP 62, 81-82. When Cummings went to tell his fiancée, Jackie Mead, that Stein was in the house, Stein attempted to leave, but ended up inside their garage. 10RP 63-64, 105. Mead got him out of the garage, but then Stein started walking down a hall toward the bedrooms. 10RP 64, 106. Cummings took Stein out to the front of the house, where the two sat in the front yard. 10RP 64-65.

Stein's bizarre behavior continued. He went from talking about events the night before involving Smith to challenging Cummings to a fight to indicating he would protect Cummings if anyone tried to harm him. 10RP 65-66. He seemed anxious and like he did not know where he was. 10RP 66. Cummings noticed

-7-

blood on Stein's shirt and asked him about it. 10RP 66-67. Cummings said he had been in a fight with Smith in the woods, had done something stupid, and would never see his daughter again. He also handed Cummings his driver license. 10RP 67.

2

Cummings's neighbor, Landon Huffman, came over and suggested that they check on Smith. 10RP 68. Cummings, Mead, and Huffman walked back to the trailer and discovered Smith's body inside. 10RP 68-72, 109-110, 135-137; exhibit 8. Based on the wounds to Smith's head, it looked like he had been shot. 10RP 137. Landon, who was armed with a pistol, made sure Stein did not leave. 10RP 72-74, 135-136. Cummings called 911. 10RP 73.

Stein's bizarre behavior continued. At one point, he walked off the property, crossed the street, and was removing the metal plate to a water meter. 10RP 74-75. Cummings told Stein to come back in his yard or he would kick his ass. In response, Stein walked toward Cummings and hit him in the temple. 10RP 75-76, 86-87. Stein then sat down and began using Smith's cell phone. 10RP 77. A some point Hedin called the phone – hoping to speak with Smith – but Stein answered. 10RP 29-30; 11RP 49. Stein was not making sense; he threatened Hedin and engaged in a rant, so Hedin hung up on him. 10RP 30, 48-50. Mead asked Stein if the phone he was

-8-

using belonged to Smith. Stein said it might and stuck it in a nearby planter. 10RP 77, 111-112. Stein then decided to go stand in the street and wait. 10RP 79.

Police arrived in response to what had been reported as a shooting and, with assault rifles in hand, yelled commands for everyone to get on the ground. 10RP 79, 153, 167, 202, 206. Stein did not comply initially and paced back and forth with his hands in his pockets before finally getting on the ground and following orders. 10RP 156-158, 192-193. Stein was not cooperative when questioned, and he continued to ramble and make nonsensical statements as if he were confused; for example, he told officers he had called his mother and she was on her way to the scene and he asked if "Big Rich" was okay. 10RP 171-173, 177, 184-185. He also urinated on himself. 11RP 59.

Stein said police had the wrong person. 10RP 194, 203. He also said he knew he had "fucked up." 10RP 176. He eventually explained about the incident the night before – when Smith had chased him with a hammer – and how he had come by Smith's trailer that day to make sure things were good between the two of them. 11RP 77-78, 97-99, 169-172; 12RP 7-9. Stein was jumping from topic to topic and not staying on point, but he denied a fight and

-9-

told police that Smith was upright and uninjured when he left Smith's trailer. 11RP 79-80, 171; 12RP 17. He also challenged the notion he had blood on him. 11RP 81-83, 172. Stein was resistant to the taking of DNA swabs of his hands (clenching his fist before eventually complying) and resistant to photographs (looking away from the camera). 10RP 174; 11RP 63-64, 73, 165-166; exhibit 20; at 1:19:15-1:20:06, at 1:23:25-1:26:24.

٤

Police did not find any weapons or drugs on Stein, and – despite a slight odor of alcohol – officers did not conclude he was intoxicated. 10RP 166, 181, 187, 205; 11RP 69; 12RP 10-13; exhibit 20, at 1:51:31-1:52:22. He had no obvious injuries. 10RP 170.

An autopsy revealed that Smith had bruising and abrasions on various parts of his body, including his hands, arms, torso, neck, and face. 12RP 107-113, 118-119, 127. He also had broken ribs, with corresponding bruises on his lungs, and multiple lacerations on the face and scalp. 12RP 114-116, 125-127, 134-135. Smith suffered a skull fracture of the type usually associated with a blow to the side of the head that would have required significant force. 12RP 136-137. He also had bruising to the brain. 12RP 137-138. The mechanism of death was blunt force injury to the head. 12RP 142-143, 146. The medical examiner could not say whether the

-10-

injuries to Smith's arms were defensive; nor could he assign blame for Smith's death. 12RP 151-152, 155. Smith's blood alcohol level was .43. 12RP 144. A chronic long-term drinker can function at this level. 12RP 157.

Testing confirmed that bloodstains found on Stein's hand and his shirt came from Smith. 11RP 145-154. Spatter analysis inside the trailer proved difficult because it was conducted after the trailer had been moved from the site, causing items to shift and fall on top of the stains. 11RP 175-176; 12RP 34, 41. The analyst concluded that "the blood letting event occurred towards the rear of the trailer and it was due to impact." 12RP 78. Although the analyst could conclude Smith was near the ground at some point during the incident and that it was a "dynamic scene" with a lot of commotion, she could not say who started the fight or how long it lasted. 12RP 81-85. And, although the State speculated that a broken wooden chair inside the trailer was used as a weapon, the analyst could not agree based on the spatter and, during a pretrial interview, conceded the spatter on the chair would have looked different had it been used as a weapon. 12RP 90-94.

Dr. Megan McNeal, a clinical and forensic psychologist, examined Stein, conducted tests on him, and reviewed discovery in

-11-

the case to assess his behavior immediately after the fray. 14RP 5-14. She concluded that Stein had suffered an acute stress response. These responses are reactions to traumatic events, a consequence of a fight or flight reaction, result in a state of shock, and are related to PTSD. 14RP 14-15. An individual in this state could not be expected to have an articulate, complete, and rational conversation. Moreover, memory impairment is typical. 14RP 32-34. Stein's condition at the time could explain why he did not mention being attacked by Smith or his efforts to ward off the attack. 14RP 54. Dr. McNeal also noted that Stein does not like the police and has a history of non-cooperation, including an earlier case in which he was an uncooperative victim, which may have influenced his interactions with police at the scene. 14RP 54-55, 90.

During closing argument, the State noted the main issue for jurors was whether self-defense had been disproved beyond a reasonable doubt. 15RP 13. The State theorized that Stein still had hard feelings about being called a nigger the night before, he and Smith got into an argument again the next day, and Stein attacked and killed Smith – perhaps with a piece of the broken chair. 15RP 30-32. The State also argued that even if Smith threatened to shoot Stein, Stein's use of force in response was not reasonable or

-12-

necessary. 15RP 10, 33-35, 72-73.

.

The defense argued that Smith was drunk when Stein stopped by his trailer, still upset with Stein from events the night before, and blamed Stein for the fact Krogness had just called and broken off their relationship. 15RP 40-42. Counsel asked jurors to conclude that, in light of Smith's physical attack on Stein and his threat to shoot Stein, Stein acted reasonably in defending himself. 15RP 36-37, 42-50, 67-70.

C. ARGUMENT

1. OFFICERS WERE PERMITTED TO EXPRESS OPINIONS ON APPELLANT'S GUILT, THEREBY DENYING HIM A FAIR TRIAL.

Prior to trial, the State sought permission to have law enforcement officers testify to Stein's demeanor following his arrest, including testimony from officers "that the defendant's behavior was unlike any they have seen in a traumatized victim." Supp. CP _____ (sub no. 51, State's Trial Memorandum, at 11); 2RP 48.

Defense counsel objected to officers testifying beyond their factual observations of Stein – and specifically to their opinions that Stein was acting inconsistently with a trauma victim – based on foundation, speculation, and relevance. 2RP 48-49, 56-57.

Judge Heller rejected the defense arguments, but gave

counsel a standing objection. 3RP 11-12. Judge Heller ruled that, so long as the State laid a sufficient foundation demonstrating officers had significant experience dealing with trauma victims, they could testify on the subject. 3RP 11.

At trial, the State offered the opinions of two officers that are the subject of this challenge on appeal. The first is King County Sheriff's Deputy Eric Gagnon, who participated in Stein's arrest. 10RP 190-193. On direct examination, the following exchange occurred between the prosecutor and Deputy Gagnon:

- Q: Now Deputy, have you dealt with, not just in the context of being a Sheriff's Deputy but in your background as well, with people who have been

 who have suffered trauma immediately after they've encountered that trauma?
- A: Yes, I have.
- Q: In what context?
- A: When I was in the Coast Guard I spent, excuse me. I spent 60 days at Ground Zero.
- Q: And have you dealt with people who have been the targets of crime violent crimes?
- A: Yes, I have.
- Q: And do you when you arrive at the scene, are you one of the first people to deal with them?
- A: Yes.

- Q: And can you tell us, please, what has been your experience with them? Is there a standard response that they all have? Are they all different? Is there a a a common thread that you see among these people?
- A: Normally when normally when somebody, excuse me while I compose myself for a second.
- Q: Sure.
- A: Normally when somebody is has just been involved in a trauma, let's say a family member has passed away or they have been a victim of a horrendous crime, they're looking for help. They want – and just because of our societ – our cultural and our society, they look –

Defense: I'm going to object.

Witness: -- people --

Court: Overruled.

- A: They look for people who represent help. Nurses, police officers, fire fighters and so on and so forth. They normally have a difficult time making decisions that help them in the immediate sense, meaning they're kind of -they're in a -- they are in a state where they are, you know, almost locked and that's why they're looking for somebody to help them through that immediate circumstance.
- Q: And can you tell us what your experience was of the defendant and his demeanor that night?
- A: When we were contacting the defendant, he his actions came across as I want to get away from me {sic}. I want to get away from you

particularly, the police -

Defense: I'm going to object to that.

Witness: -- and --

Court: Sustained.

- Q: What did you observe of the defendant?
- A: I watched him walk towards two fully uniformed police officers with patrol rifles. Not following any of the commands that were given immediately. Act in a manner that when he pulled his hands out almost to instigate some – some type of response from the police officers.

Gives me kind of part of what I - part compliance when I tell him to get down on the ground, face down. He does that by kneeling. And then he finally lays down on the ground. And when we take him back and when I put him behind the -- the fire truck, he immediately makes this, you know - and I read him the rights, he immediately makes a statement you've got the wrong guy. Like he's trying to throw me off -

Defense: Objection.

Court: Sustained.

Defense: Move to strike.

Court: Stricken.

10RP 197-199. The prosecutor finished her direct examination of

Deputy Gagnon with the following:

Q: Was there anything about your interactions with

him that reminded you of your interactions with people who have been victims of traumatic crime?

A: They're – they're not consistent with each other. He was acting opposite of what I have experience in from trauma victims.

10RP 200.

The second opinion at issue came from King County Sheriff's Detective Jeanne Walford. Detective Walford was unavailable for trial, and her testimony was presented to jurors via recorded video deposition. Exhibit 20;² 11RP 157-161. In one segment of the deposition, the deputy prosecutor asks Detective Walford – much like she asked Deputy Gagnon – about her experiences dealing with "victims of violent crime." Exhibit 20, at 1:44:10-1:44:26. After detailing her significant experience (17 years and thousands of violent crime victims), Detective Walford discusses typical responses to such trauma. Exhibit 20, at 1:44:28-1:47:04. The prosecutor then asks how Stein acted when she dealt with him at the police station shortly after his arrest, and Walford describes him as direct, obstinate, and controlling. Exhibit 20, at 1:47:05-1:48:04.

The prosecutor continues:

.

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