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

that when he pulled his hands out almost to instigate some —
some type of response from the police officers,

Gives me kind of part of what I —part compliance
when I tell him to get down on the ground, face down. He
does that by kneeling. And then he finally lays down on the
ground. And when we take him back and when I put him
behind the —the firetruck, he immediately makes this, you
know — and I read him the rights, he immediately makes a
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statement you've got the wrong guy. Lilce he's trying to
throw me off —

Defense: Objection.

Court: Sustained.

Defense: I move to strike.

Court: Stricken.

Q: So when he said you've got the wrong guy, was that in
response to any question that you'd asked?

A: No.

Q: He volunteered that?

A: Yes.

Q; And when he talked about you can find my ID in my
back pocket, was that in response to any question you asked?

A: No.

Q: And he volunteered that?

A: Yes.

Q: Was there anything about your interactions with him that
reminded you of your interactions with people who have
been victims of traumatic crime?

A: They're —they're not consistent with each other. He was
acting opposite of what I have experience in from trauma
victims.

lORP 197-200.
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On appeal, the defendant objects to the following testimony of

Detective Walford:

Q: Well, with these thousands of people that you've worked
with, what are some of the reactions you've seen when
they've been working with you after something traumatic
happened to them?

A: Shock or disbelief, maybe crying, sometimes repetitive.
The only time I've seen people really angry maybe angry
victims or witnesses is when they don't want the subject
arrested. I've seen that more in domestic violence cases.

CP 251-52. Asked about her experience with the defendant, the detective

responded:

He was more — he was pretty direct and a little more
obstinate I think. He didn't ask a lot of questions, didn't
seem overly upset. He lilted to be in control, I think.

CP 252.

Q: What makes you say that you thought he lilted to be in
control?

A: That he, you know, wanted to read every bit of that
search warrant before he was going to even allow me to put
hands on him. He was trying to close his fist when I was
trying to collect, you know, blood or evidence from his
hands... [t]hings like that.

Q; In your experience, was there anything about what he was
doing that was consistent with what you've seen from others
who have been victims or witnesses of violent or traumatic
crimes?
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A: Well, he didn't act like a victim.

Q; How so?

A: He wasn't — he was just more upset with the process. He

wasn't acting apologetic or anything or even really curious

about — he just wanted, you know —all right. He wanted to

read the warrant word for word, which isn't typical actually.

I've not had that happen a lot. And, to be honest, I thought

maybe once we were done reading it, that there would be
more stalling, but he was okay after that.

CP 253.

c. The General Legal Principles

Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference is admissible

under certain circumstances. See~e•~•, ER 701;3 ER 702.4 This is true

even where the opinion "embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the

trier of fact." State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 197, 340 P.3d 213 (2014)

(citing ER 704). The opinion evidence must be "otherwise admissible"

ER 701 permits a lay witness to testify in the form of opinions or inferences that are

"~•ationally based on the perception of the witness," are "helpful to a clear understanding

of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue," and are not based on

scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d

577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).

`~ ER 702 permits an expert witness to provide opinion testimony where the opinion is

based on scientific theory that is generally accepted in the scientific community and the

testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. State v. Rafav, 168 Wn. App. 734, 784,

285 P.3d 83 (2012), rev. denied, 176 Wn,2d 1023 (2013).
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and is therefore subject to the requirements of ER 401,5 ER 403,6 ER 701,

and ER 702. State v. Jones, 59 Wn, App. 744, 750 n.2, 801 P.2d 263

(1990), rev, denied, 116 Wn.2d 1021 (1991}. At the same time, as a

general rule, no witness, lay or expert, may "testify to his opinion as to the

guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference." State v.

Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). But opinion testimony

about a defendant's behavior "is admissible if it is prefaced with a proper

foundation: personal observations of the defendant's conduct, factually

recounted by the witness, that directly and logically support the

conclusion." State v. Dav, 51 Wn. App. 544, 552, 754 P.2d 1021, rev.

denied, 111 Wn.2d 1016 (1988).

For example, in a DUI case, an officer was permitted to opine that

the suspect was "obviously intoxicated," and could not drive safely

because the officer's opinion was based on his observations and field

sobriety testing and because it was opinion as to an ultimate fact rather

than an opinion that the defendant was guilty. Citv of Seattle v. Heatley,

70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), rev. denied, 123 Wn.2d 1011

5 Under ER 401, "[e]vidence is relevant if it has' any tendency to make any fact that is of

consequence to the case more or less likely than without the evidence." State v. Thomas

150 Wn.2d 821, 858, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

~ Uuder ER 403, relevant evidence is admissible unless its "probative value is

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or

misleading the jury." Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 224,.867 P.2d 610 (1994).
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(1994). In contrast, in State v. Garrison, the trial court properly refused to

allow the proprietor of a burglarized tavern to give his opinion as to

whether Garrison was one of the parties who participated in the burglary

of his tavern. The Court stated that:

The question literally asked the witness to express an
opinion on whether or not the appellant was guilty of the
crime charged. Obviously this question was solely for the
jury and was not the proper subject of either lay or expert
opinion.

71 Wn,2d 312, 315, 427 P.2d 1012 (1967).

Other cases are instructive here. In State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287,

290 P.3d 43 (2012), the defense presented four experts who opined about

the defendant's mental state shortly after Davis murdered the victim,

including the fact that he was mentally impaired and suffered from

posttraumatic stress disorder. Davis, 175 Wn.2d at 323. The State was

allowed to call the officer who interviewed the defendant just six days

after the murder. The officer testified that he had interviewed hundreds of

suspects in his 26 years on the force. He then discussed his interactions

with the defendant during the interview and was allowed to opine that

Davis showed no confusion and that there was nothing about the interview

that gave him cause for concern about Davis' mental state. Id. at 324.

Here, the defense expert testified that acute stress reaction is akin to PTSD but that it

lasts for only a few days. 14RP 71-72.
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The Supreme Court rejected Davis' "inadmissible lay opinion"

challenge, holding that "[i]t is well established in Washington that a lay

witness may testify concerning the sanity or mental responsibility of

others, so long as the witness' opinion is based upon facts he personally

observed, and the witness has testified to such facts." Id. at 327 (quoting

State v. Crenshaw, 27 Wn. App. 326, 332-33, 617 P.2d 1041 (1980), aff d,

98 Wn.2d 789 (1983)).

In Crenshaw, the trial court was found not to have abused its

discretion in admitting lay person testimony that the defendant "seemed

very normal" on the day he decapitated his wife. Crenshaw, at 332-33. In

State v. Craven,g a baby assault case, a hospital social worker was allowed

to opine that the suspect would not make eye contact and that her

"behavior was somewhat unusual from what I normally saw. She wasn't

crying.. ,She seemed sort of withdrawn to me." In State v. Dav, supra,

detectives were permitted to testify that the defendant showed "very little

emotion" when informed of his wife's death and were allowed to opine

that his reactions were "inappropriate." In State v. Allen,9 a detective was

g 69 Wn. App. 581, 849 P.2d 681, rev. denied, 122 Wn.2d 1019 (1993).

9 50 Wn. App. 412, 749 P.2d 702, rev. denied, 110 Wn.2d 1024 (1988).
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permitted to opine that the defendant's grief over her husband's death did

not appear to be sincere. I o

Finally, the decision to admit evidence is left to the sound

discretion of the trial court. Atrial court's decision to admit evidence will

be overturned only upon a finding of an abuse of discretion. State v.

DemerY, 144 Wn,2d 753, 758, 30 P,3d 1278 (2001). "Where reasonable

persons could take differing views regarding the propriety of the trial

court's actions, the trial court has not abused its discretion." Id. An abuse

of discretion is shown only when the reviewing court is satisfied that "no

reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion." State v.

Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989).

d. Neither Officer Opined That The Defendant Was
Guilty Of Murder

In all of the above cases, the defense argued that the testimony was

improperly admitted opinion evidence and prejudicial. But, "[i]n almost

any instance, a defendant can complain that the admission of potentially

incriminating evidence is prejudicial in that it may contribute to proving

beyond a reasonable doubt he committed the crime with which he is

10 The defendant relies on State v. Haga, 8 Wn. App. 481, 507 P.2d 159, rev. denied, 82

Wn.2d 1006 (1973), a murder case where the court ruled that an ambulance driver should

not have been allowed to opine that Haga's failure to show signs of grief over his wife's

death was "unusual." But as this Court noted in Allen, the witness was being asked to

testify as an expert under ER 702, but he did not qualify as such. Allen, at 417. Here,

there was no evidentiary foundational objection raised at trial or on appeal.
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charged." DaX, at 549 (citing State v. Bernson, 40 Wn. App. 729, 736,

700 P.2d 758, rev. denied, 104 Wn.2d 1016 (1985)). The fact that

testimony or evidence can be used to argue guilt does not make that

testimony or evidence an opinion on guilt, the singular challenge raised

here.

Neither Deputy Gagnon or Detective Walford opined that they

believed the defendant was guilty of murder or that he did not act in

self-defense. Their opinions regarding their observed behavior of the

defendant simply provided the jury with an understanding that he was not

acting as other persons they have dealt with who have witnessed or been

subjected to traumatic experiences. This was not an expression that they

believed the defendant was guilty of murder or that he had not acted in

self-defense.

All of the officers' observations were admissible and relevant, that

the defendant repeatedly lied, that he was evasive, argumentative and

hostile. It is certainly not startling that the officers would say this is not

characteristic behavior of persons who have just been exposed to trauma.

The defense presented their own witness, Forensic Psychologist

Megan McNeal, and argued that the defendant's behavior evidenced that

he was in a state of shock. The State argued that the defendant's behavior

evidenced his guilt. Both were permissible arguments to make,
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conclusions to be drawn from the evidence. The opinion evidence of

Gagnon, Walford and McNeal pertained to the defendant's behavior, it

was not an opinion that he was guilty or innocent of murder

e. Any Error Was Harmless

Evidentiary error is not prejudicial "unless, within reasonable

probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected

had the error not occurred." State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945

P.2d 1120 (1997). Here, the jurors were instructed that any opinion

should be given the weight the jurors deemed appropriate based on the

circumstance. ~ ~ All of the facts supporting Gagnon, Walford and

McNeal's opinions were before the jurors to evaluate. There is nothing so

prejudicial about any of their opinions that can be said to have materially

affected the trial.

2. THE DEFENDANT' S CLAIM THAT HE HAS A

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT ANY

RELEVANT EVIDENCE REGARDLESS OF THE

RULES OF EVIDENCE IS WITHOUT MERIT

The defendant contends that he has a constitutional right to present

any evidence that has any evidentiary value regardless of the rules of

" A witness who has special training, education, or experience may be allowed to express

an opinion in addition to giving testimony as to the facts. You are not, however, required

to accept his or her opinion. To determine the credibility and weight to be given to this

type of evidence, you may consider, among other things, the education, training,

experience, knowledge, and ability of the witness. You may also consider the reasons

given for the opinion and the sources of his or her information, as well as considering the

factors already given to you for evaluating the testimony of any other witness. CP 124.
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evidence. Specifically, the defendant contends that he had a constitutional

right to present evidence that when Bill Smith was a teenager, some 30

years prior, he got a tattoo of a swastika. This claim should be rejected.

The defendant's attempt to admit the fact that Smith had such a tattoo was

a thinly veiled attempt to admit highly prejudicial evidence. The trial

court properly exercised its discretion and denied the defendant's request

to admit the evidence — no constitutional right was violated.

a. The Facts

Among the many tattoos Smith had on his body was a tattoo of a

swastilca.12 2RP 21; 3RP 26. Smith, who was 48 at the time he was

murdered, got the tattoo13 when he a teenager because his best friend got

one. 2RP 22. Even though the defendant did not know of the existence of

the tattoo, counsel sought to admit evidence that Smith had the tattoo to

support his self-defense claim. 2RP 24-25. Specifically, the defense

stated that evidence that Smith had a swastika tattoo was being offered to

show that Smith was a racist and thus he was a violent person and thus it

'2 On appeal, the defense asserts that Smith had two swastika tattoos. This is not

supported by the record. At trial, despite the fact that autopsy photos showed Smith's

entire body, defense counsel asserted that he "believe[d]" Smith might have two swastika

tattoos, instead of just one, because witness statements were conflicting on where the

tattoos) may be located. 2RP 24; 3RP 26.

13 The swastika, also known as the gammadion cross or manji, is a sacred symbol in

Hinduism and Buddhism, and has been commonly used in various cultures since

Neolithic times. Adopted by the Nazi Party, the symbol became stigmatized in most

Western countries, although it remains a commonly used symbol in various religions.

http://en.wilcipedia. org/wild/Swastika.
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was likely that he was the first aggressor in the fight in the trailer. 3RP 25.

The defense presented no other evidence that Smith was somehow aligned

with the Nazi Party or otherwise embraced Nazi Party ideals.

In ruling on the motion, the court stated that if there were evidence

that Smith was a member of a racist party or espoused racist views near

the time of the murder, evidence of a swastika might be relevant and

admissible. 3RP 25. But here, the court said, where the evidence is

merely that Smith got a tattoo 30 years prior, the extreme prejudice

engendered by the symbol was too great to allow for admissibility without

the defendant providing a greater nexus to the crime. 3RP 26, 28. This,

however, was only a tentative ruling. The court added that, "I'm not

excluding it categorically; I'm just saying that before I admit it,-the

defense is going to have to connect that swastika to what happened here."

3RP 26. "I want to see how the case unfolds in terms of this racial

motive," "you can raise it again, but for now, it's out." 3RP 28. The

defendant never raised the issue again.

b. The Issue Has Been Waived

Where a defendant does not seek a final ruling on a pretrial motion

after a court has issued a tentative ruling, the issue has been waived. State

v, Rilcer, 123 Wn.2d 351, 369, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). In Rilcer, pretrial, the

court tentatively ruled that certain testimony was not admissible. At trial,
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Riker did not call the witness to testify or ask the court to make a final

ruling on the admissibility of the testimony. The Supreme Court held that

this constituted waiver of the issue on appeal. This case is no different.

The trial court made a tentative ruling and invited the defendant to raise

the issue again at trial — he did not. This issue has been waived.

c. The Constitutional Claim

The defendant argues that his constitutional right to put on a

defense trumps well-established rules of evidence and allows for the

admission of any relevant evidence. This argument fails.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and

article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution have been interpreted

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